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Most modern day Arlington commuters who use Chain Bridge in their 
daily trek to and from the District would be astonished to learn how prominent 
the area at Pimmit Run at the Virginia end of the bridge was in the early 
days of our fledgling country . 

At the mouth of the Pimmit was an early river crossing; two Indian trails 
from the interior country met at this spot and it is believed there was an 
Indian settlement and fishing ground here. 1 This spot, the first break in the 
palisades below Little Falls supported among other endeavors: Indian gatherings, 
taverns, ferries, a tobacco warehouse , the first industrial park in Northern 
Virginia, an extensive stone quarry operation, a Civil War outpost in the 
defense of the City, a sleepy crossroads settlement that came alive each 
spring during the herring and shad runs, and finally a high volume traffic 
artery to the City . It is also the site of a proposed town that failed to 
materialize. 

The area on the Virginia side of the river at Chain Bridge is rich in history, 
its past now noted only by a small roadside historical marker. 

The area was explored as early as 1608 "as high as the Falls" by Captain 
John Smith. An Indian settlement was believed to be at Pimmit Run with 
two trails that correspond approximately to the Fairfax Road (Route 123) 
and the other following Pimmit Run turning south and joining what is the 
present day Glebe Road at Walker Chapel. 2 

The first public ferry in Virginia north of Great Hunting Creek was 
established near the site3 and an early Lee , (Philip Ludwell Lee) in 1772 
laid out a town there on one hundred acres. 4 His father Thomas had earlier 
established a gristmill and official tobacco inspection warehouse at Pimmit 
Run5 which continued to operate until 1792. 

During the evacuation of the city of Washington prior to the British 
burning of public buildings including the White House in 1814 the area may 
have provided refuge for the Declaration of Independence. 6 And during the 
Civil War the organizer of the Aeronautical Corps of the Army directed the 
movement of his inflated balloon across the upper trusses of the then wooden 
bridge7 

- and the first Union Army sentinel to be court marshalled for 
sleeping at his post during the war - was at the bridge. 8 
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The Bridges 

There have been eight bridges crossing the river at this location including 
the present one (which is supported by the same stone piers constructed in 
1850 for the sixth bridge). 

"The oldest Potomac River bridge in the Washington area is Chain Bridge 
at Little Falls." . . . "The First Little Falls Bridge over the Potomac was 
built in 1797, preceding the development of the Capital City by several 
years."9 

The first bridge was a covered timber structure built at a site chosen . . . 
"because the river was narrow enough in that particular area to make bridging 
relatively inexpensive . " 10 It was built by the Georgetown Potomac Bridge 
Company through a 1794 charter. The bridge opened as a toll bridge in 
1797 with charges of three cents for a pedestrian, eight cents for a man and 
a horse. 11 The following is an observation made by a traveler in about 1801 
and documented on page 134 in "Latrobe's View of America, 1795 - 1820": 

"Three miles from Georgetown, just at the head of tide water, 
and at what are called the little falls, a bridge of single arch 
crosses the Potomac. It is composed of wood; erected by one 
Palmer, from Connecticut. I was told that it was formed by him 
in Connecticut and shipped in pieces. The abutments are a huge 
pile of massy square stones bolted together with great iron pins, 
and melted lead, a novel sight to me, and I take it, capable of 
resisting the most swollen floods of water. The Virginia side a 
high bank, Maryland side, low base of immovable, large and 
deep rocks. The fact is, here the Potomac is narrow and deep 

The first bridge collapsed in 1804 and a second structure was destroyed 
by high water within six months of its completion. 

The third bridge was built in 1820 and gave the name Chain Bridge to 
itself and all subsequent bridges . It was constructed as follows: "Two chains 
made from one and one quarter inch wrought iron bars were suspended from 
massive stone towers at either shore and supported a wooden slab deck . 
Each link in the chain was four feet long."12 (In June 1938 a link of the old 
chain was presented to the Oldest Inhabitants of the District of Columbia 
which organization was conducting a dedication ceremony for the present 
bridge). 13 

This third bridge and first "Chain" bridge was destroyed by high water 
in 1812 and a fourth bridge was built which was of similar design. The 
fourth bridge was heavily damaged in 1815 and the owners turned to the 
federal government for financial assistance to repair the structure . 

The fifth bridge was built in 1840 lasting until the early 1850s. 
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The sixth bridge built in 1852 was built adjacent to the site of the previous 
structures and was supported on tall stone piers which remain until this day 
as supports for the present bridge. This bridge was destroyed by the river 
in 1870. 

The seventh bridge was built in 1874 by the Army Corps of Engineers 
and was of a wrought iron truss construction. This bridge lasted until 1938; 
it was closed for a year in 1927 to allow repairs and a concrete pier to be 
constructed on the Virginia side. 14 

In 1939 the present bridge was opened and although it has in recent years 
been widened it still rests on the stone piers that originally were built to 
support the 1852 bridge. 

Early Settlement 

The first development in the area of the bridge crossing had its beginnings 
in 1719 when Thomas Lee, (1690-1750) the fifth son of Richard Lee, II, 
who was resident agent for Lady Catherine Fairfax, proprietor of the Northern 
Neck grant of 5,000,000 acres, obtained the Langley tract of2,862 acres 
on the Potomac River between Great Falls and the Little Falls15 (which 
included land on the river well below the present day bridge). 

Francis Awbrey, Thomas Lee's associate 16
, at the time a major landowner 

in Fairfax County17 (5,497 acres 18
) established a ferry at the mouth of the 

Pimmit prior to 1737 and maintained an ordinary on the Virginia shore at 
-this main river crossing to serve the travelers to the upper country. 19 He 
converted the ferry to a public ferry in 1738. 20 

Awbrey died in 17 41 and left the property to his son Richard who in 
1748 moved his ferry south to Analostan Island21 (present day Theodore 
Roosevelt Island). The relocated ferry operated from the Virginia shore 
opposite the Island to the mouth of Rock Creek. Parts of the present-day 
Wilson Boulevard, formerly the Ballston-Georgetown Road, then known as 
Awbrey's Road were used by inland plantation owners making their way 
to the Awbrey Ferry Landing. 22 

Lee At The Pimmit 

Thomas Lee established a gristmill and official tobacco inspection 
warehouse at Pimmit Run. Thomas died in 1750 but his warehouse continued 
to operate until 1792. 

An interesting sidelight was Thomas Lee's blocking of Robert "King" 
Carter's plan to build a road from his copper deposits in western Fairfax to 
the Little Falls to ship to the Tidewater. Certain that he had a rich deposit 
of copper bearing ore on his holdings at Frying Pan Creek (present day 
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Map 7: The Sugarlands Rolling 
Road "beginning at the mouth 
of Pillit's run;" The Falls 
Rolling Road; mills at the 
110uth of P1mmi t Run 

® Fendall-Bipkins mill 
• • • Patterson's mills 

X Biding place for State 
papers 

MAP - DEPICTING ROUTES OF EARLY ROADS 
LEADING TO THE BRIDGE AND FERRY LANDING 

"Old Roads and New Insights, 
Adventures in Discovery" 

· Winslow R. Hatch 
courtesy Dita Hatch 

Floris) King Carter and his sons planned to build a road from there to the 
Little Falls crossing as the shortest route from the mine to tidewater. 

Lee entered a hasty survey claiming all available landing places at Little 
Falls thus obtaining a monopoly at the headwaters and foiling Carter. 

Carter later decided to ship from the Occoquan and to do so, opened and 
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extended an old Indian trail from Frying Pan past the site of what became 
the Fairfax Court House clear to the Occoquan, the present day Ox Road 
(Route 123). 23 

The Town That Never Was 

In 1772 Philip Ludwell Lee (son of Thomas laid out a proposed town on 
one hundred acres at the Little Falls on the Potomac to be named Philee24 

The town never materialized. Philip Ludwell Lee died in 1775. 25 

Following Philip Ludwell Lee's death his property was divided between 
his two daughters Matilda and Flora. Flora married Ludwell Lee of Belmont 
in Loudoun County. 26 

The Industrial Complex 

On July 25, 1794, Ludwell Lee conveyed to Philip Richard Fendall and 
Lewis Hopkins27 two-thirds and one-third interest respectively in the property. 
Fendall and Hopkins erected a merchant mill, distillery, and brewery and 
made many other improvements. 28 

Before Fendall died in 1805 his establishment near Pimmit Run included 
a granary, gristmill, brewery, cooper's and blacksmith's shop in addition 
to cottages for the laborers and artisans. 29 

On November 15, 1815, Edgar Patterson a merchant of Georgetown 
_obtained the property and holdings from Joseph Dean who had acquired the 
combined properties of Fendall and Hopkins in July 1806. 30 

Patterson's Mills ". . . In the few years· between 1816 and 1821, this may 
have been among the busiest 200 feet of shoreline on the Potomac, with 
ships from Liverpool taking on tobacco and scows moving out 300 barrels 
of flour every two days. Consignments of woolen goods and three-point 
blankets from the mills - considered better than English woolens - were 
going aboard scows for the Georgetown market ... "3

' 

On December 29, 1821, an extended advertisement appeared in the Daily 
National Intelligencer offering Patterson Mills for sale. 32 The advertisement 
reprinted below shows the extensive operation then existing at the foot of 
the Bridge: 

"To Manufacturers 
"Paper Mill, Flour Mill, Wool Factory, Stone Quarries and 

Land for Sale.*** 

''The Flour Mill 
"Is a large three story stone building, having three runs of 

burrs, with all the necessary machinery to manufacture flour. 
It is situated at the Little Falls Bridge, on the tide water of the 
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Potomac in the District of Columbia, and only 3 miles from 
Washington and Georgetown. The turnpike road leading from 
these places to Leesburg and the Western Country passes by the 
door. The river at this place is from forty to sixty feet deep. 
This is considered the most profitable milling establishment in 
this part of the country there being no necessity to keep a team 
a plenty of wheat being brought to the door from Loudoun 
county and the upper part of Virginia. Three hands can load 
300 barrels of'flour on board a scow, bring it to town , have it 
inspected, and put into store in one day , and, being so near 
market, all the offal can be disposed of without expense and at 
retail prices. 

"The Wool Factory 
"Adjoins the flour mill. It is a two story stone building, 110 

feet in length, containing carding machines, billes and jennies, 
12 broad and a number of narrow looms, and all other necessary 
machinery for manufacturing blankets and cloth. A stone fulling 
mill , with 2 pairs of stocks, a stone dye house, and stone beach 
house are attached to the factory. This establishment, including 
the flour mill cost me about $40,000. I will not sell it for a 
much less sum. The stone quarries on this tract have yielded 
me a rent of $1500 a year, and I was offered a rent of $1500 
per year for the flour mill before I erected the wool factory. 
There is also on this tract a valuable unimproved mill seat. The 
fall is 27 feet on tide water.*** 

Edgar Patterson" [sig] 

There were several other mills at the mouth of Pimmit Run near or where 
Patterson's Mill stood: Burnt Mill which is shown on Civil War era maps 
and Hill's Mill which was operational into the 1890s. 33 

The British Are Coming 

It was during this period that a series of events occurred that to this day 
remain unclear; the circumstances regard the removal and temporary storage 
of government records including the Declaration of Independence during 
the British burning of Washington. 

Not in dispute is that Stephen Pleasanton, a government auditor for fifty 
years through twelve presidential administrations, 34 removed from the City 
for safekeeping government books and valuable papers including the Declaration 
of Independence, fleeing with them into the Virginia countryside. 
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What remains unclear is where he stored those most precious writings. 
One account has Stephen Pleasanton on August 23 taking his treasures 

to an unnamed mill three miles beyond Georgetown where they were concealed 
while he spent the night at Salona. The next day he is reported to have 
continued on to Leesburg with the documents . 35 

Another account has Pleasanton on August 22 conveying the government's 
papers to a gristmill two miles above Georgetown in Northern Virginia, 
thought to be Adams' Upper Mill. Samuel Adams' Upper Mill was located 
at the Langley Farms Ford of the Pimmit. 36 

The most definitive account is the one written by Mr. Pleasanton himself 
wherein he says the documents were stored in Edgar Patterson's mill: 

"Whereupon I proceeded to purchase coarse linen and caused it to be 
made into bags of convenient size, in which the gentlemen of the office, 
assisted by me, placed the books and their papers, after which I obtained 
carts and had them conveyed to a grist mill, then unoccupied, belonging to 
Mr. Edgar Patterson, situated a short distance on the Virginia side of the 
Potomac, beyond the Chain Bridge, so called two miles above 
Georgetown. "37 

Unfortunately Mr. Pleasanton penned the account in 1848 - thirty-four 
years after the event and in his seventy-second year. Was it an accurate 
account or did his memory play tricks? 

An on-site investigation of the mystery of the mills was undertaken and 
described by the "Rambler" in the Sunday Star, August 9, 1914. The conclusion 

• - the documents were stored in the "First of Nelsons mills which stood at 
the bottom of Slades Hill." - (where Pimmit Run crosses Kirby Road) 

Winslow Hatch, in his writings, makes the argument for the hiding place 
of the papers in the foundation of a mill seat whose ruins are on the Pimmit 
just where the first iron bridge carrying Glebe Road crossed. 38 

There are may accounts of where these most important documents spent 
the first night on the flight from the British in August 1814. The confusion 
is magnified by the differences in reported distances from Georgetown (two 
miles versus three miles) and the possibility of the hiding place being in 
Adams' upper or Adams' lower mill or in Patterson's mill(s). 39 

Dueling Ground 

A dueling ground was located near the Virginia end of the bridge in a 
secluded meadow on Pimmit Run. The one duel of note took place in 1826 
between Henry Clay, Secretary of State, and the Senator from Virginia, 
John Randolph. Neither was hit and both appeared to be relieved at the 
outcome.40 
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Civil War At The Bridge 

At the outbreak of the Civil War the first defenses of bridgeheads were 
concentrated at the Aqueduct and Long Bridges and the heights overl9oking 
both. Congress believed the war would be of short duration and was mostly 
concerned about the amounts of monies being spent on defenses. 41 

Following the Union defeat at the First Battle of Bull Run, priorities 
changed and a proper system of defense was begun which eventually became 
a loose ring of fifty-three forts around the City: twenty-two within the 
boundaries of present-day Arlington with two, Fort Marcey (in Fairfax 
County) and Fort Ethan Allen (in Arlington) defending Chain Bridge and 
the main route west, the Georgetown-Leesburg Pike. 42 

The two forts were connected by auxiliary batteries and lines of trenches. 
A strong stockade was built across Georgetown Pike near the fort to guard 
against a cavalry dash. Also each night part of the flooring of the bridge 
was removed. 43 Earlier at the bridge itself, a barricade was placed over the 
first pier from the Virginia side with a movable staircase so the defenders 
could retreat over the flat below, leaving the bridge open to the fire of 
howitzers on the heights above. 44 

A road connecting the defenses at Chain Bridge to Fort Strong (between 
present-day Cherrydale and Rosslyn) was constructed which in part is the 
route of present-day Military Road. The amazing thing, it reportedly was 
laid out through wooded country for three .miles and completed in three days. 45 

During the war Thaddeus S.C. Lowe, who was empowered to organize 
the Aeronautical Corps of the Army, was the first to use a balloon for 
military purposes. 46 Lowe used his balloon for military observation inflating 
it in the City, the only source of gas, and towing it to the sites where he 
ascended to the height necessary for viewing the opposing lines, using a 
tether to secure it in place. 

During one of his trips from the City to an outpost in Virginia where he 
was to ascend he arrived at the Washington end of Chain Bridge with his 
balloon to find the bridge filled with troops and artillery moving into Virginia. 
Unable to secure a place in the lines moving across the bridge, he directed 
the moving of the balloon by having his men climb up onto the overhead 
truss-works and make their way across the eighteen inch wide stringers 
towing the balloon with the troops on the bridge below them and the river 
far below that. 

The upshot of this particular adventure was that after having left the City 
at 9:00 PM, and having spent all night traveling with an inflated balloon, 
after the extremely hazardous Chain Bridge crossing and his arrival in 
Lewinsville at daybreak, a strong windstorm broke the balloon loose and 
carried it clear into Delaware where it was later retrieved by Lowe. 47 
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Electric Power At The Bridge 

Twenty-six years after Thaddeus Lowe's bridge adventure electricity came 
to Chain Bridge. The Columbia Light and Power Company constructed a 
building with generators in it at the bridge and beginning in 1890 supplied 
electricity to light both the bridge and the Canal Road until 1894. The 
generators were powered by waters from Pimmit Run; the millrace was on 
the western side of the run. 

The generating plant was located at Chain Bridge just between the old 
Georgetown-Leesburg Pike and the Pimmit Run (a little greensward, perhaps 
as much as an acre of ground all covered with grass). Later the generating 
plan fell into disuse and was taken down. The lumber and machinery was 
bought by the District of Columbia government and taken to Occoquan.48 

Virginia end of bridge - Circa 1874-1890. Artist's Proof 

Later Structures 

The G.M. Hopkins Atlas of Fifteen Miles Around WashingtonD.C. 1878, 
pg. 66-67 shows only one structure at the Virginia end of the bridge: E.D. 
Woody's Store. The District of Columbia Directory of 1880 lists Edward 
Woody - grocer Canal Road; again in 1906 the directory carries the same 
listing. 

Pictures taken of the Virginia end of the bridge in 1889, 1890, 1900, and 
1901 show a frame two story structure having a wide first floor roofed 
porch, located on the upper side of the bridge approach road in the same 
lo~ation as Woody's store shown on the 1878 map.49 
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In 1915 the "With the Rambler" column gave the following description 
of the Virginia end of the bridge: "After crossing the water span and coming 
to the gray-dust road on the Virignia side, wooden steps lead down to a 
rocky ledge, and from that improvised steps of rough and irregularly placed 
stones will carry you down, if you are sure-footed, to the waters edge. It 
is a favorite place with fisher people, and a popular place with swimmers, 
though here among the rocks and the swift current and the eddies a good 
many men and boys have lost their lives. Here Pimmet (sic) Run rushes 
into the river. .. . The Palisades have been gouged out here so there is 
quite a space between the river and the tree-topped cliffs. Among the quarry 
debris are the ruins of the foundation and piers formerly supporting a big 
stone-crushing plant. Down through the quarry and over the loose but heavy 
rocks Pimmet (sic) Run foams. 

If you will climb back to the gray-dust road you will note the steep high 
hill on the right, and past the first bend in that gray road, which is the 
beginning of the Leesburg Pike, a road, a-grown in grass and weeds and 
small shrubbery leads up the hill. On the top you come upon the ruins of 
a building that was a landmark for a good many years. It was a hotel, or a 
road-side resort, and, like so many places of that character, it had its golden 
days and its days of repentance and shabbiness . Its prosperity waned, it 
became a dilapidated old building, and then it fell prey to a fire . "50 

This ruin was the site of High View Hotel built in the early 1890s on the 
remains of Civil War outposts of nearby Fort Ethan Allen. The hotel operat6d 
as a deluxe gambling resort until the county was "cleaned up" in 1904. 51 

A picture in the Columbia Historical Society archives taken in 1861 during 
the Civil War from the Washington Palisades looking toward Virginia and 
the bridge shows an encampment of tents on the hotel site. This same 
location may also have been the site of a dwelling that was part of the 
industrial complex constructed by Philip Fendall. A description in 1796: 
" . . . Upon the top of the hill, and about 20 yards from the Mill is a stone 
Dwelling house, large enough for the accommodation of a family, also, a 
kitchen\ dairy, smoke house, etc. and a garden enclosed and in cultivation, 

"52 

The Twentieth Century 

Growth was slow and the area remained isolated through the end of the 
nineteenth century with only two structures at the end of the bridge through 
1916. 53 "After the tum of the twentieth century, settlement intensified in 
the vicinity of the bridge, and stone was quarried along the Potomac south 
of Pimmit Run. Two gasoline stations were eventually built at the foot of 
the bridge along with several other buildings possibly related to them."54 
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There must have been commercial activity of a different sort in the early 
years of the twentieth century; Winslow Hatch in his recordings of the 
history of the area: ... "The local and state authorities sat idly by for years, 
up into the 1920s while the area was made into a red-light district."55 Local 
lore had it that the tavern at the end of the bridge was a drop-off point for 
rum-runners during prohibition. Supposedly, they came up the river and put 
into Pimmit Run which joins the river directly behind the tavern. 

In 1924, William N. Doak (1882-1933) who began his career in 1900 
with-Norfolk & Western Railroad and in 1930 was appointed U.S. Secretary 
of Labor by Herbert Hoover56 purchased the property that had been the site 
of the High View Hotel and constructed the home that is there today. The 
house was named "Notre Nid" ( our nest) and it was there the Doak:s entertained 
many national figures including President Hoover and members of his cabinet 
and later President Roosevelt, who came to view the 1936 flood. 57 

The early gateway to Virginia was witness to yet another historic event 
in Arlington: the introduction of public water distribution that would replace 
wells and ultimately lead to development in areas not fed by springs or 
where well-supplied water was not available. 

In 1926 the question of a public water supply system for Arlington County 
was examined; the decision was to buy from the existing District of Columbia 
waterworks. In the spring of 1927 construction began that eventually drew 
from the Dalecarlia Filter Plant in the District and supplied water to a 1.5 
million gallon reservoir and 260,000 gallon water tower near Old Dominion 

·Drive and 24th Street North. The first public water in Arlington wa,; transported 
in a large water main that crossed the river under Chain Bridge.58 

' 'The Army Corps of Engineers built the seventh bridge, an iron truss 
bridge, in 1874, but structural weakness in the light-weight iron trusses 
proved incapable of handling increased automotive travel. In July 1927 
travel was restricted to pedestrians . . . ". 59 A story in The Evening Star, 
Wednesday, July 13, 1927, reported that after limiting vehicle weight to 
four tons and speed to 8 mph for a month, the bridge was closed to all but 
pedestrian traffic . The closing was not due to motor traffic but deterioration 
in the stone abutment that supported the Virginia end of the bridge. A picture 
and accompanying story in The Evening Star dated March 1928 showed the 
first span from the Virginia side weighing 40 tons lifted from the abutment 
by an A-frame arrangement while work went on to repair the abutment. 60 

In May of that same year The Evening Star reported the bridge was reopened 
to traffic part-time while the finishing repairs were completed. 

A detailed 1936 map of the area shows a structure at the end of the bridge, 
identified as a filling station on the upper side of the road in the same 
location where a building stood in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries 
(Woody's store). Also shown is a series of buildings on the lower side of 
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the road, two at the edge of the road and four identified as summer cottages 
further down closer to the mouth of Pimmit Run. Also depicted is the house 
on top of the palisade (Doak property) and further up the Great Falls Road 
(present-day Route 123) after it turns and heads upriver a second house on 
the palisades. Directly across the road from this second house and between 
the road and Pimmit Run are four houses: one at the edge of the road and 
three in a row running toward Pimmit Run. 61 Also up Glebe Road to 41st 
Street North right-of-way is a house and further up Glebe Road on top of 
the hill out of sight of the bridge running from Randolph Street to beyond 
and along North Military Road is a large well-established community. 

A map of this same area dated 1938 shows one less structure on the lower 
side of the road at the bridge and identifies the second of these from the 
bridge as a gas station. The structure on the upper side of the road at the 
bridge is still identified as a gas station. The two houses on the palisades 
are still present, the first identified as Emma M. Doak, the second as A.M. 
King. On this map there are now only three houses between the road (Route 
123) and Pimmit Run; the one closest to the road on the 1936 map is gone. 
The map identifies the owner of all the property on the immediate lower 
side of the bridge running between the road and Pimmit Run up to and 
including the three houses between Route 123 and Pimmit Run as Crandal 
Mackey. The house on 41 st Street North is identified as F .F. Ballard property. 62 

Flood waters continued to be a problem at the bridge. In March 1936 a 
picture and story in The Washington Star show debris from the flood waters 
caught in the overhead structure of the iron trussworks. 63 Also in the picture 
is the gas station on the upper side of the road at the Virginia end of the 
bridge. It is a story and a half structure with cinder block \\falls built in a 
cape cod style with dormer windows in the roof. Mr. Guy Harmon, a 
long-time caretaker for the Doaks, remembered that the building housing 
the gas station once had living quarters on the second floor. (In later years 
the dormer windows were gone and the building had a tin-covered pitched 
roof. )64 This flood closed the bridge to traffic for repairs until May 29, 1936. 
When the bridge re-opened the vehicle weight limit was 6,000 pounds. 65 In 
March, 1937, another flood hit and the damage caused this bridge to permanently 
close on August 18, 1937. This steel bridge that had been completed in 
1874 at a cost of $94,000 was to make way for a new bridge authorized at 
a cost of $393,000. The authorization came after a fight between the State 
of Virginia and the House Sub-Committee-District Appropriations. A 
member of that committee, the Honorable Mr. Collins, proposed a one-way 
toll from Virginia to force Virginia to share in the cost. 66 

A September 1937 picture of the demolition of the iron-trussed bridge 
taken from the Washington side looking toward Virginia shows two buildings 
at the Virginia end of the bridge. The building on the upper side of the road 
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1927 Repairs - Virginia end. The A-frame hoist lifted the bridge section weighing 40 tons 
while the abutment was repaired. Artist's Proof 

is the gas station shown in the March 20, 1936 photograph; the difference 
is that a large Shell gasoline billboard and small pole-mounted Shell sign 
have been replaced by a small pole-mounted Amoco sign. The first building 
from the bridge end on the lower side of the road is a story and a half 
structure with an open porch on the river side. Steps lead from the porch 
down the bank toward the river edge. Two large signs on the roof are 
illegible in the picture but are of the advertising type. A parking lot in the 
front between the building and the road has room for autos to pull face in. 
There is a small addition on the back that appears to hang out over the steep 
slope. A small open-sided roofed structure is on a ledge part way down the 
slope facing the water between the building and the river edge. 67 
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The next bridge was built atop the stone piers erected in 1852. The 
shoulders of the old piers were filled out to provide wider supports for the 
new bridge which was to be ten feet wider and twenty feet higher. This 
new bridge had three traffic lanes, two pedestrian walks; it was erected by 
the Tuller Construction Company of Redbank, New Jersey, at a contract 
cost of $342,529. The dedication ceremony took place on June 17, 1938, 
with a series of speakers, one, Virginia Senator Glass who was a surprise, 
not being listed on the program. It was Senator Glass who was instrumental 
in acquiring funds from the District Appropriations Committee. 68 It was the 
construction of this 1938 bridge and the re-aligning and raising of the approach 
roads that obliterated much of the remnants and foundations of structures 
that preceded it. 69 

At the bridge in 1938 the main stuctures were a tavern-store, two gasoline 
stations (one on the upper side of the road, one on the lower side beyond 
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1938 - Structures and property owners near the bridge . Detail from 1938 Arlington County 
Franklin Survey - Plate 20, Arlington Co.unty, Department of Libraries, Virginia Room 
Collection. 
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the tavern), and four cottages below the tavern between the road and the 
mouth of the Pimmit. The tavern was owned by the Mackey family who 
also lived in the three houses around the bend between the road (Route 123) 
and the Pimmit. 70 Lillian Mackey ran the tavern and lived in the third house 
from the road next to the Pimmit. The other two houses also were occupied 
by members of the Mackey family; one, Mary Lou Mackey Madden, a 
granddaughter of Crandal, remembers waiting for the school bus on Route 
123 across from the King's driveway at the top of the steep road from her 
house on the banks of Pimmit Run. 71 

Living On The River 

On the Virginia side of the river very few people actually lived at the 
river bank. Some lived up on the palisades and others lived on the banks 
of the Pimmit. A colony of summer houses and quarry workers' shacks 
were on the river edge just above the present Key Bridge known as Sandy 
Beach. It was reached via an unmarked road near the Cherry Smash building 
in Rosslyn. 72 

Closer to Chain Bridge up on the Virginia palisades at Windy Run was 
"Little Italy," a settlement of the quarry workers who produced from the 
cliffs stone which was barged down river and used in many Washington 
buildings. 73 Chain Bridge pictures taken in 1890 showed houses on the 
Washington side close by the C&O Canal both to the left and right of the 

· bridge. One of the people who lived on the D.C. side from 1935-1938 in 
a house at river's edge was Q.T. Carter; his house built during 1932-1934 
was midway between Chain Bridge and Georgetown (4215 Canal Road). It 
was on the river side of the canal right next to the railroad tracks. One had 
to take a boat across the canal to get to it and enter at the second floor 
which was level with the railbed. 

The Carter house was an up and down terraced building built hard by the 
river with large doors and windows on the upriver and downriver sides of 
the second floor. The first floor (actually the basement) had large double 
doors on the upriver side that swung in and large double doors on the 
downriver side that swung outward. The large windows and doors would 
be removed and the basement doors opened during times of high water and 
floods and the Carters would move everything to the top floor and the rising 
waters would swirl through the lower floors. After the waters receded the 
lower levels would be scrubbed and the windows and doors restored to their 
proper setting, the furnishings put back, and at next high water do it all over. 

The Carter house water was supplied by a pump. After each period of 
high water there was no drinking water so water had to be carried from a 
spring further up on Canal Road. 
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The winters along this stretch during Carter's boyhood were cold and icy. 
Ice would dam at the Aqueduct Bridge and the ice-break in the spring was 
frightening. The people along the river were always alert for changes; people 
talked up and down the river constantly on the lookout for danger. Tugboats 
from the Smoot quarry operation traveling this stretch of river were. part of 
the warning network. 

Carter remembers a large colony of houseboats moored on the D.C. side 
of the river above Georgetown that would suffer some tosses to the river 
during every flood. 

A Mr. Crampton, who owned a nearby boathouse, delivered goods by 
barge to the people living on the river. The Carters received their coal for 
heating by this method. Crampton also had a barge equipped with a dance 
floor that in summer was a popular gathering spot. 

Mr. Carter remembers there were houses on Canal Road from Chain 
Bridge to Key Bridge - the kids who lived along the river were known as 
"River Rats." The only houses during the 1930s and 1940s on the Virginia 
side of the river close to Chain Bridge were some shacks on stilts occupied 
by laborers and fishermen. 

The Carters moved out in 1938-1939. The house survived until 1941 or 
1942 when all but the basement walls and the outdoor fireplace disappeared. 
(Demolished or flood?) If one looks closely from the George Washington 
Parkway at Spout Run directly across to the D.C. shore the outdoor fireplace 
is still visible. 74 

The Last Entrepreneurs At The Bridge 

During the late 1940s and through the 1950-1960 period the tavern and 
the gas station, on opposite sides of the road, right at the bridge were the 
only businesses still in operation and the small one room cottages behind 
the tavern were rented out to full-time tenants. 

The tavern during this period was a different appearing building than in 
the mid-1930 picture. It now was a two-story (second story at road level) 
brick and block structure with a flat roof. The tavern interior was typical 
of the time. One large room with a counter on the left where beer, light 
food, candy, fishing hooks, etc . were sold. The majority of the room was 
filled with tables and chairs. 75 The tavern was run by Lillian Mackey; Dar­
lington Mackey, who was blind, lived in the lower level; Argyle Mackey 
Ii ved up the hill on Route 123 . 76 

The gas station was operated beginning in the early 1950s and through 
mid-1950s by John K. Hayes, who leased from Amoco, who in tum leased 
from the owner, Mrs . Doak, who was still living in the large house on the 
palisades. 77 The gas station was primitive even in the 1950s. The grease 
rack was outside and oil was kept in large drums and sold by the quart bottle 
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Virginia end of bridge - Circa 1930. 1927 abutment visible. Picture taken from Mackey 
Tavern parking lot. Courtesy Commission of Fine Arts, Donald Myer 

(installed for twenty-five cents a quart). Kerosene and white gas for heaters 
• and lanterns were big sellers, especially during the spring herring and shad 

rtl_ns when large supplies of hooks, lead sinkers, sandwiches and soft drinks 
were for sale in the tiny gas station office. 

The place was always bustling during spring fishing; in addition to the 
fishermen, there were gas buyers, river watchers, regular carpoolers who 
changed rides there and used the station as a waiting room. The Metropolitan 
Police patrols came across the bridge regularly and stopped in. 

Across the road behind the tavern a steep path led down to the one-room 
cabins located on the banks of the Pimmit. These cabins were heated by 
kerosene stoves and did not have running water. Several regular occupants 
would go to the gas station each evening to fill their water jugs and occasionally 
buy kerosene for their stoves. Their bathing facility was a fairly deep pool 
located about a half-mile upstream in Pimmit Run. 

Then And Now 

A visit today to the bridge finds no buildings at all (the last listing in the 
Arlington County Directory for a business at the bridge was in 1955 for 
Chain Bridge CALSO service station). The approach road and bridge both 
have been widened even further than in 1938. There does not appear to be 
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Virginia end of bridge taken from same spot as 1930 picture - 1988. Note marker at right. 
Author's Collection 

room on either side of the road to put .any kind of structure - the only 
thing there to remind of days past is a historical marker describing the early 
settlers at the mouth of the Pimmit. 

In the early days the roads and river banks were much different than 
today. On early maps the road that goes straight up the hill from the bridge 
(present-day Glebe Road) used to follow the Georgetown Turnpike (Route 
123) for a short distance then turned to the left and became Falls Rolling 
Road, crossed Pimmit Run and went through a valley eventually joining 
present-day Glebe Road near Walker Chapel. 

The early road to the Sugarlands (Sugarlands Rolling Road) left the ferry 
landing at water's edge on the lower side of the Pimmit Run mouth and 
crossed the Pimmit upstream from the present and earlier Glebe Road bridges. 
This road that now turns and goes straight up the hill toward Fairfax (Route 
123) has over the years had the following names: Sugarlands Road, Sugar­
lands Rolling Road, Georgetown Pike, Leesburg Pike, Georgetown-Lees­
burg Pike, Great Falls Road, Chain Bridge Road, and Route 123. The other 
road leaving the bridge into Arlington has been named The Falls Road, 
Little Falls Road, Falls Rolling Road, and Glebe Road. 

The building and rebuilding of the bridges and continuous raising the 
widening of approach roads changed the appearance of the bridge head, 
eventually erasing almost all trace of what was there. The bridge approach 
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from the D.C. side was via a causeway across the flats to a ramped incline 
leading up onto the bridge. It was not until the construction of the sixth 
bridge in 1852 which used ,all stone support piers that the bridge carried all 
the way from the Virginia shore to the north bank of the canal on the D.C. 
side . 78 

The most dramatic change in the topography was caused by the extensive 
quarrying operations on the southern palisade at the mouth of Pimmit Run. 
A 1789 sketch of the first bridge shows a large outcropping of rock that 
had disappeared in yiews of later years, removed by quarrying. 79 These 
palisades were first quarried commercially as early as the Patterson ventures 
prior to 1821. 80 In 1851 the Vanderwerkin-Grunwell family(s) had a commercial 
quarry on the palisades followed by a succession of companies: Potomac 
Stone Company, Columbia Sand and Gravel Company, and Smoot Sand 
and Gravel Company - quarrying ceased in late 1938. 81 

Some of the houses built in the 1920s and 1930s are still there, including 
the Doak House "Notre Nid." They have been joined by structures, some 
very elegant, built along both sides of Route 123 as one travels up the hill 
toward Fairfax, including a group of townhouses right on the palisades. A 
substantial number of houses have been built on the land atop the Glebe 
Road hill as well as along 41st Street North. A major road, the George 
Washington Parkway has been constructed along the ridge just beyond the 
Pimmit and crosses over Glebe Road on high bridgeworks that dominate 
_the scene as one approaches Virginia on the bridge from the D.C. side. 

A walking trip along the banks of Pimmit Run reveals little of what was 
there: a few possible foundation stones near the bridge, the early abutment, 
further upstream the abutment of an early bridge that used to carry Glebe 
Road over the Pimmit; a large depression and stones that may have been a 
building site, a solitary utility pole at the location ... of the three houses -
nothing of substance to indicate more than two hundred years of man's 
involvement. 
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